ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Laurens County
Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

SEP - 9 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

BENJAMIN R. NABORS,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001797

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ROBERT M. PACHAK
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Whether the PCR court erred in allowing petitioner to waive PCR counsel when it did not advise petitioner of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation?
- II. Whether plea counsel was ineffective in failing to request an independent mental health examination to help petitioner better understand his options in deciding whether to plead guilty?
- III. Whether petitioner's case should be remanded to see if he was competent to proceed pro se at his PCR hearing?

STATEMENT

On October 19, 2010, petitioner appeared before the Honorable Derham Cole in Laurens County and pled guilty to armed robbery and carjacking. He was sentenced to twenty-five (25) years for armed robbery and to twenty (20) consecutive years for carjacking. That 20-year sentence was suspended during probation for five (5) years. Alex Stalvey, Esquire, was plea counsel. C. Yates Brown, Jr. was the assistant solicitor. (App. p. 150 – p. 181).

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on March 30, 2011. (App. p. 182 – p. 186). Respondent filed a return dated August 18, 2011. (App. p. 187 – p. 191). On June 5, 2012, a hearing was held before the Honorable Thomas A. Russo to continue the PCR action so that PCR counsel, Caroline Horlbeck, Esquire, could consult with Dr. Martin, a psychiatrist at the Greenville County Detention Center, who had evaluated petitioner prior to his guilty plea. It was her understanding that Dr. Martin would testify that with the extent of drugs petitioner has taken over his lifetime, it would have caused permanent brain damage and mental illness. Under State v. Hartfield, 300 S.C. 469, 388 S.E.2d 802 (1990), this would have allowed petitioner to present a defense of insanity or to attempt to obtain a verdict of guilty but mentally ill. Petitioner maintained that plea counsel did not tell him this was a defense prior to trial or prior to the guilty plea. Judge Russo granted the continuance. (App. p. 195, line 18 – p. 207, line 7). On November 14, 2012, a hearing was held before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., on a motion to relieve Ms. Horlbeck as PCR counsel. Judge Addy granted that motion. (App. p. 204 – p. 226). On March 13, 2013, the actual PCR hearing was held before the Honorable Clifton B. Newman. Petitioner was present and was represented by Rodney Richey, Esquire. Respondent was represented by J. Rutledge Johnson, Esquire. Mr. Richey was relieved as counsel during the hearing and petitioner proceeded pro se. Alex Stalvey, Esquire, who was plea counsel, testified at the hearing. (App. p. 227 – p. 347). On

April 25, 2013, Judge Newman issued an order denying and dismissing the application for post conviction relief. (App. p. 348 – p. 358).

This petition follows.

ARGUMENT I

The PCR court erred in allowing petitioner to waive PCR counsel when it did not advise petitioner of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation.

After the discussion about petitioner wanting PCR counsel to be relieved, the court put him under oath and asked him if he wanted to represent himself. The court asked this question two more times and petitioner finally said he would represent himself. (App. p. 237, line 3 – p. 238, line 14). The court then relieved counsel and told petitioner to represent himself. (App. p. 241, lines 3 – 4). Nowhere during this proceeding did the court ever advise petitioner of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation. His waiver of counsel, therefore, could not have been knowing and intelligent.

Rule 71.1(d), SCRCR, provides:

If, after the State has filed its return, the application presents questions of law or fact which will require a hearing, the court shall promptly appoint counsel to assist the applicant if he is indigent....

In Whitehead v. State, 310 S.C. 532, 426 S.E.2d 315 (1992), the court wrote:

In our view, the plain and unambiguous language of Rule 71.1(d) mandates the appointment of counsel for indigent PCR applicants whenever a PCR hearing is held to determine questions of law or fact. Therefore, we hold that when a PCR application is not dismissed *before* a hearing is held, the PCR judge must appoint counsel or obtain a knowing and intelligent waiver of that right by the applicant. To establish a valid waiver of the right to counsel, the PCR applicant must be made aware of the right to counsel and the dangers of self-representation. *See. e.g., Prince v. State*, 301 S.C. 422, 392 S.E.2d 462 (1990).

In Prince v. State cited above, the court held that in the absence of a specific inquiry by the judge addressing the disadvantages of a pro se defense, the Supreme Court, in determining whether there was a valid waiver of counsel, will look to the record to determine whether petitioner had sufficient background or was apprised of his rights by some other source. In that case, the Court found that the defendant was not sufficiently aware of the dangers of self-representation to make an

informed decision to proceed pro se, where the defendant was mentally disturbed and exhibited little understanding of criminal proceedings. As a result, the order dismissing Whitehead's PCR application was reversed and the case was remanded for a new PCR hearing.

Because the PCR court failed to advise petitioner of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation and because of his competency issues, the order of dismissal should be reversed and his case should be remanded for a new PCR hearing.

ARGUMENT II

Plea counsel was ineffective in failing to request an independent mental health examination to help petitioner better understand his options in deciding whether to plead guilty.

Plea counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that petitioner was evaluated by the Department of Mental Health. Petitioner also had some issues at the Laurens County Detention Center. Counsel said they were evaluating a possible insanity defense so they reviewed petitioner's prior criminal history. There also was a psychiatrist, Dr. Martin, who was treating him when petitioner got moved to the Greenville County Detention Center. Dr. Martin diagnosed petitioner with paranoid schizophrenia, but he was not prepared to offer a specific finding concerning petitioner's criminal responsibility. The doctor would also have testified on the use of methamphetamine and how it interacted with paranoid schizophrenia. They were also going to call into question the credibility of the evaluation of the State's psychiatrist at the Department of Mental Health. (App. p. 311, lines 17 – 25; app. p. 312, line 21 – p. 313, line 17; app. p. 315, lines 20 – 25).

Initially, petitioner was extended a plea offer of twelve (12) years, but he didn't want to take the deal. So they decided on going to trial and it actually started and the next day petitioner said, "I want to get this over with." So, he decided to plead guilty. (App. p. 316, line 5 – p. 319, line 21). From the sentence received, it appears petitioner derived little benefit from pleading guilty.

In Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 106 S.Ct. 366 (1985), the Supreme Court of the United States wrote that the "longstanding test for determining the validity of a guilty plea is 'whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among alternative courses of action open to the defendant.'" (citations omitted). In Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 105 S.Ct. 1087, the Court held that when a defendant makes a preliminary showing that his sanity at the time of the offense is likely to be a significant factor at trial, due process requires that a State provides access to a

psychiatrist's assistance on this issue, if a defendant cannot afford one. Further, S.C. Code § 44-23-410(C) provides:

If the person or the person's counsel requests, the court may authorize the person to be examined additionally by a designated examiner of the person's choice. However, the court may prescribe the time and conditions under which the independent examination is conducted.

In State v. Hartfield, 300 S.C. 469, 388 S.E.2d 802 (1990), the Court held that voluntary intoxication or the use of drugs is not a defense to a crime but insanity caused by the use of drugs or intoxication may be a defense where insanity is permanent and destroys a defendant's ability to know right from wrong. In such cases, a defendant is entitled to present a defense of insanity or attempt to obtain a verdict of guilty, but mentally ill.

Plea counsel should have requested an independent mental health examination before petitioner proceeded to trial and before his decision to plead guilty. Given petitioner's mental health issues, a failure by a court to grant an independent examination would have been an abuse of discretion. Counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance of counsel by not asking for an independent examination. Petitioner was not able to make a voluntary and intelligent choice among alternative courses of action.

ARGUMENT III

Petitioner's case should be remanded to determine if he was competent to proceed pro se at his PCR hearing.

During petitioner's PCR hearing, appointed counsel, Rodney Richey, Esquire, advised the court that petitioner did not want him to represent petitioner. Counsel said petitioner wanted witnesses to be called and he also wanted to have a psychiatrist present for an insanity defense. Petitioner said he had not seen his discovery yet and he had been waiting 4 ½ years. He said he only wanted 7 or 8 witnesses that could give information about his mental health. He said he was not guilty of committing any crimes. He was temporarily insane and he suffered from schizophrenia. He said he had never gotten a Blair hearing. He was highly medicated and was incompetent to enter a guilty plea at the time. (App. p. 230, line 19 – p. 232, line 16).

The State argued that this was petitioner's fourth PCR attorney. He was not able to get along with his other attorneys. If PCR counsel got relieved, the State asked that the case go forward. (App. p. 234, line 8 – p. 235, line 3). The PCR judge asked if petitioner was claiming he was incompetent, could you have a PCR hearing without a determination being made that he was competent to proceed at the hearing? The State responded that there was case law that held when there were fact-intensive issues an applicant did not have to be competent to proceed because the lawyer is doing most of the work. (App. p. 235, lines 4 – 15).

The case the State was referring to is Council v. State, 359 S.C. 120, 597 S.E.2d 782 (2004). The court held that a mentally incompetent prisoner could not seek an indefinite stay for his PCR proceedings. The court noted in that case that the prisoner's incompetency would not inhibit his PCR challenge because none of the issues presented for review require his competency to assist his counsel. Later, in Ferguson v. State, 382 S.C. 615, 677 S.E.2d 600 (2009), the court emphasized that Council did also state:

“if, at a future date, the petitioner regains his competency and discovers that at his original PCR hearing, his incompetency prevented his ability to assist his counsel on a fact-based claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, he may then raise that claim in a subsequent proceeding.”

382 S.C. at 617, 677 S.E.2d at 601, quoting Council, 359 S.C. at 129, 597 S.E.2d at 787.

In this case, petitioner is not seeking an indefinite stay. Because petitioner was seeking to have counsel relieved, the issue was whether he was competent to represent himself without the assistance of counsel. For that reason, petitioner’s case should be remanded to determine if he was competent to proceed pro se at his PCR hearing.