STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO LAURENS COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-001797

Benjamin R. Nabors,..... Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. RUTLEDGE JOHNSON
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar # 78871

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JAN 29 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the PCR court properly allow Petitioner to waive PCR counsel by forfeiture because Petitioner was repeatedly abusive, threatening and coercive toward his PCR attorneys?
- II. Whether Petitioner can prove prejudice from plea counsel's failure to obtain an independent mental health examination during his representation of Petitioner, where Petitioner failed to present any report at the PCR hearing that he was not competent at the time of his plea?
- III. Whether Petitioner's case should be remanded to see if he was competent to proceed pro se at his PCR hearing?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Benjamin R. Nabors, (“Petitioner”), was indicted at the October 2009 term of the Laurens County Grand Jury for Carjacking (2009-GS-30-1276), and Armed Robbery (2009-GS-30-1387). He was represented by Alex Stalvey, Esquire. On October 18, 2010, the Applicant pled guilty as indicted to both charges. The Honorable J. Derham Cole sentenced the Applicant to incarceration for a period of twenty-five (25) years for armed robbery, and twenty (20) years suspended with five (5) years’ probation to run consecutively. He did not appeal his convictions or sentences.

Petitioner subsequently filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on March 30, 2011. Respondent made its Return on or about August 25, 2011. Petitioner was appointed William K. Charles, II, Esquire, as PCR counsel. Mr. Charles was relieved as counsel and Ms. Elizabeth Wiygul, Esquire, was appointed. On March 23, 2012, Ms. Wiygul was relieved and Ms. Caroline Horlbeck, Esquire, was appointed. During a hearing on November 14, 2012 before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., Petitioner moved to have Ms. Horlbeck relieved, claiming she was out to get him and had written letters to her to that effect. See App. p.208-210; p. 224. At this hearing, Judge Addy warned Petitioner that he would substitute PCR counsel but this would be the last attorney Petitioner would be appointed. (App. p. 216). On March 13, 2013, an evidentiary hearing was held at the Greenwood County Courthouse. Petitioner was present and represented by Rodney Richey, Esquire. Respondent was represented by J. Rutledge Johnson, Esquire of the South Carolina Attorney General’s Office. At the PCR hearing, Petitioner once again expressed that he could not cooperate with PCR counsel and testified that he wanted counsel relieved. Judge Newman obliged and the hearing proceeded. On April 25, 2013, the Honorable Clifton B. Newman denied and dismissed the Petitioner’s application with prejudice

by written Order. Petitioner subsequently filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari on September 9, 2014. This Return to the Petition for Writ of Certiorari follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for reviewing a PCR evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a PCR proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

ARGUMENTS

I. The PCR court properly allowed Petitioner to waive PCR counsel by forfeiture because Petitioner was repeatedly abusive, threatening and coercive toward his PCR attorneys.

Petitioner asserts “the PCR court erred in allowing petitioner to waive PCR counsel when it did not advise petitioner of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation.” This argument is not preserved for appeal and nevertheless, meritless.

First, “[t]o be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to and passed upon by the trial court. If the issue is raised but not ruled on, it is not preserved for appeal.” State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct. App. 1996). Only a matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed, otherwise, the appellate court would be exercising original jurisdiction. State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 204 S.E.2d 727 (1974). “Because [Petitioner] did not make a Rule 59(e) motion asking the PCR judge to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law on his allegations, the issues were not preserved for appellate review.” Marlar v. State, 375 S.C. 407, 410, 653 S.E.2d 266, 267 (2007).

Here, Petitioner did not object to the PCR court’s decision to relieve counsel. Instead, Petitioner blatantly stated, “I’ll represent myself.” (App. p. 238 line 14). Petitioner never objected to the PCR court relieving counsel and did not file a 59(e) motion asking the PCR court to make a finding of fact or conclusion of law as to this issue. Therefore, this issue is not properly before this Court.

Nevertheless, this issue is without merit.

Rule 71.1(d), SCRPC, provides:

If, after the State has filed its return, the application presents questions of law or fact which will require a hearing, the court shall promptly appoint counsel to assist the applicant if he is indigent....

In Whitehead v. State, 310 S.C. 532, 534, 426 S.E.2d 315, 316 (1992), this Court expressed:

In our view, the plain and unambiguous language of Rule 71.1(d) mandates the appointment of counsel for indigent PCR applicants whenever a PCR hearing is held to determine questions of law or fact. Therefore, we hold that when a PCR application is not dismissed *before* a hearing is held, the PCR judge must appoint counsel or obtain a knowing and intelligent waiver of that right by the applicant. To establish a valid waiver of the right to counsel, the PCR applicant must be made aware of the right to counsel and the dangers of self-representation.

“Courts have recognized three ways in which a defendant may relinquish his right to counsel. First, a defendant may waive his Sixth Amendment right to counsel. A waiver is an intentional and voluntary relinquishment of a known right.” State v. Boykin, 324 S.C. 552, 556, 478 S.E.2d 689, 690 (Ct. App. 1996). “A defendant may also waive his right to counsel through his conduct.” State v. Boykin at 556, 478 S.E.2d at 69. “Finally, some courts have held a defendant may forfeit his Sixth Amendment right to counsel. Forfeiture results in the loss of the right regardless of the defendant’s knowledge of either the consequences of his actions or the dangers of self-representation.” Id. “A defendant who is abusive toward his attorney may forfeit his right to counsel. United States v. McLeod, 53 F.3d 322, 325 (11th Cir. 1995).

In United States v. McLeod, 53 F.3d 322 (11th Cir.1995), the defendant dismissed his first attorney and then was verbally abusive and threatening to his second attorney, including threatening to sue his second attorney and attempting to persuade him to engage in unethical conduct in connection with defendant’s case. Although the court was troubled that the defendant was not warned that his misbehavior would lead to *pro se* representation, it “cannot say that the district judge erred by concluding that McLeod had forfeited this right to counsel.” United States v. McLeod at 326.

McLeod is analogous with Petitioner’s case.

In Petitioner's case, Petitioner had several attorneys appointed to his criminal case before the Honorable D. Garrison Hill appointed Counsel (Alex Stalvey) to Petitioner's case. (App. p. 310 lines 5-8). Counsel represented Petitioner throughout the guilty plea proceedings. Petitioner was then appointed PCR counsel pursuant to Rule 71.1(d), SCRCF. The first two attorneys were relieved and other counsel substituted. On November 14, 2012, a hearing was held at which Petitioner requested Counsel Horlbeck be relieved. Ms. Horlbeck handed Judge Addy a letter written by Petitioner which alleged Ms. Horlbeck committed some type of misconduct. See p. 208 lines 18-22; p. 210 lines 4-15). Judge Addy then explained to Petitioner that he would appoint another attorney in his PCR case, but that Petitioner would have to cooperate with that attorney and allow that attorney to "do the leg work" of the case. (App. p. 213 line 19- p. 214 line 9). Judge Addy also explained that this next attorney would be the last attorney appointed to Petitioner's case. (App. p. 216 lines 6-14). Petitioner then stated he wanted to represent himself and Judge Addy began to advise him on the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation. (App. p. 219 line 19- p. 223 line 10). Judge Addy then decided to appoint Petitioner one final attorney. (App. p. 224 lines 1-7).

At the PCR hearing held on March 13, 2013, Counsel Richey explained to the PCR court that Petitioner expressed to Mr. Richey that he did not want Counsel Richey to represent him. (App. p. 230 lines 19-25). Counsel Richey then explained that he had investigated Petitioner's case, including calling and contacting witnesses, investigating a psychiatrist for an insanity defense, reviewing prior counsel's file and reviewing the report from the Department of Mental Health. (App. p. 231 lines 1-12; 233 lines 8-15). Counsel Richey further stated that Petitioner had filed a lawsuit against him, which Petitioner confirmed, and that Petitioner wanted him to take some actions which he did not know he could ethically take. (App. p. 233 lines 16-25).

As in McLeod, Petitioner's behavior has been "repeatedly abusive, threatening, and coercive." McLeod at 326. He has relieved multiple attorneys in both his criminal case and PCR case. He has written letters to counsel which have "[crossed] the line" and asked counsel to take actions that are arguably unethical. (App. p. 210 lines 8-9; p. 233 lines 23-25). He further filed a lawsuit against Counsel Richey. All of Petitioner's actions prove he waived his right to counsel by forfeiture pursuant to McLeod. Therefore, this Court should affirm the PCR court's order as there are no reversible errors of law presented by Petitioner.

II. Petitioner cannot prove prejudice from plea counsel's failure to obtain an independent mental health examination during his representation of Petitioner because Petitioner failed to present any report at the PCR hearing that he was not competent at the time of his plea or that he did not understand his options in deciding to plea.

Petitioner asserts "[p]lea counsel was ineffective in failing to request an independent mental health examination to help petitioner better understand his options in deciding whether to plead guilty." This issue is without merit.

The test of competency to enter a plea is the same as required to stand trial. The accused must have sufficient capability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding and have a rational as well as factual understanding of the proceedings against him. In a PCR action, the petitioner bears the burden of proof and is required to show by a preponderance of the evidence he was incompetent at the time of his plea. SCRPC Rule 71.1(e). Any evidence of probative value to support the post-conviction judge's factual findings is sufficient to uphold those findings on appeal.

Jeter v. State, 308 S.C. 230, 232, 417 S.E.2d 594, 596 (1992)

"This Court has repeatedly held a PCR applicant *must produce the testimony* of a favorable witness *or otherwise offer the testimony in accordance with the rules of evidence* at the PCR hearing in order to establish prejudice from the witness' failure to testify at trial." Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 303, 509 S.E.2d 807, 809 (1998).

In this case, Petitioner failed to present any evidence of an independent evaluation or witnesses which would prove that he was either not competent to stand trial or that he did not understand his options in deciding whether to plead guilty. Therefore, he can prove no prejudice by an alleged shortcoming of plea counsel.

To the contrary, Counsel Stalvey testified at the PCR hearing that he knew Petitioner has been evaluated by the Department of Mental Health and obtained the necessary medical history files for Petitioner. (App. p. 31 lines 17-25). Counsel testified he discussed this written report with Petitioner. (App. p. 313 lines 21-13). This report stated that “there is little to suggest that [Petitioner] did not understand the wrongfulness of the acts for which he is charged” and that “it does not appear that [Petitioner], at the time of the alleged offenses, was suffering from a mental disease or defect that caused him to lack sufficient capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law.” (App. pp. 384-385). Counsel also stated he consulted with Dr. Martin several times as Petitioner’s treating psychiatrist, but that Dr. Martin was not prepared to offer a specific finding of Petitioner’s criminal responsibility. (App. p. 312 line 21-p. 313 line 4). Counsel further stated that he discussed plea offers with Petitioner and prepared for trial, but that it was Petitioner’s decision to reject the plea offers. (App. p. 316 line 10- p. 317 line 9). Counsel lastly testified that a trial was begun and during a break, Petitioner decided he wished to plead guilty and understood everything Counsel explained to him. (App. p. 318 line 11-p. 319 line 23).

The PCR court found Counsel’s testimony was credible while finding Petitioner’s testimony not credible. See Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 518 S.E.2d 265 (1999) (Great deference is given to the PCR court’s findings on matters of credibility, as the reviewing court lacks the opportunity to observe witnesses). The PCR correctly held that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving Counsel’s ineffectiveness based on the aforementioned reasons.

Accordingly, there is clear “evidence of probative value” to support the PCR judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). Therefore, the Petitioner has failed to meet his burden of proof as to this argument.

III. Petitioner’s case should not be remanded to determine whether he was competent to proceed pro se because he failed to present any evidence that he was not competent to represent himself.

Petitioner asserts this case should be remanded to determine if he was competent to proceed pro se at his PCR hearing. This claim is without merit.

A PCR action is a civil action. Therefore, the constitutional protections that forbid a criminal trial of a mentally incompetent defendant do not apply. Council v. Catoe, 359 S.C. 120, 125, 597 S.E.2d 782, 784-85 (2004). Where a collateral attack on trial counsel’s conduct regarding petitioner’s mental state and criminal responsibility at the time of the crime was dependent on the petitioner’s records and testimony of experts at the time of the crimes, petitioner’s competency need not be an issue where there was ample evidence presented at the PCR hearing to make a factual determination. Council v. State, 380 S.C. 159, 181, 670 S.E.2d 356, 367 (2008).

In this case, Petitioner failed to present any evidence that he was incompetent at the time of his PCR hearing. See Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 509 S.E.2d 807 (1998). Nevertheless, Petitioner’s competency should not be an issue because the factual determination can be made based on the evidence presented at the PCR hearing. At the hearing, the PCR judge had before him the guilty plea transcript, the clerk of courts records, Counsel Stalvey’s testimony and the Report from the Department of Mental Health stating petitioner understood the wrongfulness of his acts and suffered from no mental disease or defect that caused him to lack sufficient capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. Therefore, Petitioner’s has presented no

reason that this case should be remanded to determine whether Petitioner was competent to proceed pro se at his PCR hearing.

Therefore, the Petitioner has failed to meet his burden of proof as to this argument.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's ruling. Should this Court grant Certiorari, the Respondent requests permission under the rules to brief the issues discussed above fully.